1954

# Walter F. Morgan et al v. Bert Sorenson et al : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The question involved in this action relates to the forfeiture and abandonment of certain lode mining claims known as the Black Jack claims Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5. The original location on these claims was made by James Morgan and Frank Gromar, with the said James Morgan having a  $3/4$  interest and Frank Gromar a  $1/4$  interest. The plaintiffs George Gromar, Mrs. George Gromar, Leslie Gromar, Mrs. Leslie Gromar, William Gromar, Mrs. William Gromar, Eugene Gromar, Mrs. Eugene Gromar and Arlene Gromar Gier claim an interest in the mining claims as the heirs and/or legal representatives of Frank Gromar, who died prior to April 10, 1949.

On April 10, 1949 James Morgan executed a quit claim deed to Harold F. Morgan and/or Walter F. Morgan to all the mining claims in question. The deed is identified as exhibit No. 7. That the deed was acknowledged before a Notary Public on the said date, namely April 10, 1949 and was delivered to the plaintiff Walter F. Morgan shortly after it was signed (Tr 7.8.13.305). That the plaintiff Walter F. Morgan held the deed in his personal possession and recorded it



October 1, 1951.

That in 1943 and prior while the mining property was yet in the name of James Morgan certain assessment work had been done at the instance and request of James Morgan, that after the year 1948 any labors or assessment work was discontinued except perhaps the moving away of equipment in April of 1949, which would not have had the effect of developing or improving the said mining property, that the inactivity and lack of labor on the said mining claims continued until June 15, 1951, at which time the defendants located the said property under their locations known as the Black Queen Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and the Johnny Boy.

That the United States congress passed an act known as Public Law No. 107 providing for the suspension of labor to all mining claims in the United States until the hour of 12 o'clock meridian of the 1st day of July, 1949; provided that every claimant of any such mining claim in order to obtain the benefits of such act shall file, or cause to be filed in the office where the located notice or certificate is recorded on or before 12 o'clock meridian August 1, 1949, a notice of his desire to hold said mining claim under this act, it provided further, that any labor performed



or improvements made on any such mining claims during the year ending July 1st, 1949, may be credited against the labor or improvements required to be performed for the year ending 12 o'clock meridian on the 1st day of July, 1950.

That James Morgan who conveyed by quit claim deed the said mining claims in question on April 10, 1949, had during his life time numerous mining claims both in Yocela and in Juab Counties. That on July 23, 1949, three and one-half months after James Morgan had conveyed by quit claim deed to Harold T. Morgan and Walter F. Morgan the property in question he filed in the office of County Recorder in Juab County, Utah, a notice of intention to hold mining claims under U.S. 1764 Public Law 107 of the 81st Congress as shown by plaintiffs exhibit B.

That the notice of intention to hold said Black Jack mining claims Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 was not made for or on behalf of the claimants or owners of the property under the conveyance of April 10, 1949, nor is there any association or privity claims either in the filing of this notice or at any time in the history of the said claim. That the conveyance from



James Morgan to Harold T. Morgan and/or Walter F.

Morgan was absolute in its terms (Exhibit 7) without any conditions, restrictions or reservations.

That James Morgan died in November of 1949. That the plaintiffs Walter F. Morgan and Harold T. Morgan claim their title and right to possession to the said Black Jack mining claims by reason of the deed from their father executed April 10, 1949, (Tr 213,303).

That the defendants having observed the inactivity and lack of assessment work or labor of any kind upon the property and having checked the records of the Juab County Recorder and Tooele County Recorder observed that no assessment work had been filed for the year ending July 1st, 1950, the defendants regarded the property as forfeited under the mining laws of the United States and the State of Utah and also regarded it as having been abandoned and on June 15, 1951, after assuring themselves that no person or persons were active in performing work or labor or had filed notices upon the property the defendants located the same and have been active and aggressive ever since in developing the said mining property.



## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### Point I

That the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of the court that more than Five Hundred Dollars worth of labor was performed upon the Black Jack Lode Mining Claims Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, for the purpose of developing the claims by the plaintiffs or anyone in privity with them, for the year ending July 1, 1950.

### Point II

The evidence is insufficient to support the findings of the court that Walter F. Morgan and Harold T. Morgan acquired any benefits from 1948 labor by reason of the Act of Congress for the suspension of assessment work under Public Law 107, or rights from his notice to hold.

### Point III

That the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of the court that the quit claim deed from James Morgan to his sons Harold T. Morgan and/or Walter F. Morgan was not delivered timely, or was intended as a deed of gift to take effect upon the death of the grantor, and was ineffective to convey a present title to the grantees.



#### Point IV

That the court erred in concluding that notice of intention to hold mining claims as required by Congressional Act when filed upon property by a stranger or one not in privity with the claimants can operate to avoid a forfeiture.

#### Point V

That the Court erred in not finding as a matter of law that the failure of the claimants to perform any assessment work upon the Black Jack mining claims 1 to 5 inclusive in 1949 and to June 15, 1951, constituted a forfeiture as well as an abandonment of said mining claims rendering them open to relocation.



## Point I

The evidence is insufficient to support the findings of the court that more than \$500. worth of labor was performed upon the Black Jack mining claims Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 by the plaintiffs or anyone in privity with them for the year ending July 1, 1950.

As this case deals with a forfeiture and/or abandonment of lode mining claims a brief consideration of the law as it relates to forfeiture and abandonment is herein felt advisable.

It is generally held by the courts that failure to perform the necessary work required by law upon a mining claim with a subsequent relocation constitutes a forfeiture, (60 A.L.R. p. 926; 2 Lindly on Mines 2nd Edition, p. 1193.) The requirement to perform annual work upon a mining claim of the value of \$100 is in accordance with the provisions of section 2324 of the Revised Statutes of the United States, Title 30, Sec. 28, U.S.C.A. The last-mentioned section provides in part that:

"Upon a failure to comply with these conditions, the claim or mine upon which such failure occurred shall be open to relocation in the same manner as if no location of the same had ever been made."



For additional authority on this subject we

quote from the case of *Heuser v. ...*, 140 Cal. 357 at page 36.

"A forfeiture of a mining claim occurs by operation of law when the locator fails to preserve his rights by complying with the conditions imposed by the mining law whether the statute expressly so provides or not, and a forfeiture becomes effectual upon a valid relocation of the same mining claim."

Of the same holding is the case of *Herbst v. ...*

*Miner v. ...* 112 P. 701.

Although it is held that the burden is upon him proving the forfeiture by clear and convincing evidence, with reasonable doubts resolved in favor of the validity of the mining claim, it is still the general position of the courts that when a party relying upon a forfeiture of a mining claim shows that no work was performed by the original locator within the period of one year as required by law, he establishes a prima facie case entitling him to possession, in the absence of evidence to the contrary. 40 Cal. J. 4.

In the present case the evidence established a

prima facie case showing that Walter F. Herpin, Harold

F. Herpin, the defendants' attorneys and the counsel

responsible for the holding through any of them from



the original locators forfeited their rights to the claims which are involved in this action, for failure to perform the necessary work thereon for the year ending July 1, 1950, (another and different case exists for forfeiture and abandonment subsequent to said July 1, 1950), and rendered the claim subject to relocation. The evidence supporting such a forfeiture will be reviewed here but lightly as effects the lack of work and expenditures for the year ending July 1, 1950, because such evidence showing a definite lack of work and interest by the plaintiffs was so extensive and so slightly contradicted; and because the plaintiffs and cross defendants apparently base their claims and justify their non-performance on a temporary resolution of Congress chapter 221 Public Law 107, which will be discussed at some length hereafter. But for the purpose of aiding the court on forfeiture occasioned by lack of assessment work we refer to the following cases: Russell vs. Broeseau 4 F. (43); Clark vs. Mallory, 70 F2 664; Karner vs. Shaddock, McBean & Co. 85 F2 552; New Mercer Mining Co. vs. So. Mercury 128 F2 26; Utah Standard Mining Company vs. Tintic



It is pointed out in support of such point that the following reputable witnesses took the stand and testified of the definite absence of assessment work from July 1, 1949 through June 15, 1951: Gilbert Jenson, Ray Spor, Wesley Sampson and John Jenson (Tr 45,20). Frequent visits dating from June 1, 1949 to June 15, 1953 to the mining property were described in detail by these witnesses, which if believed at all would rule out the slightest possibility of any work, labor or improvements having been made upon the property during the period in question, (Tr 10,105)<sup>100,73,201</sup>. The dates and circumstances were definitely stated and without any contradiction, (Tr 10,105)<sup>100,73,201</sup>. The testimony becomes the more convincing and effective when viewed in the light of statements made by the plaintiffs' witnesses. According to the testimony of plaintiffs' witness Harold Evans all the machinery and equipment at the Black Jack mining claims was removed and taken to the Ida Mining property or elsewhere in April 1949, (Tr 237,242). That there was no further intention on the part of Evans or anyone working with him to return



to the said Black Jack claims, and that he forfeited his lease and told James Morgan he did not intend to do any further mining work at the Black Jack property.

(Evans deposition p. 8). In the deposition of

Harold Evans as contained in Defendants Exhibit #2,

Harold Evans testified as follows:

Q: How much did you spend on the Black Jack after July 1, 1949?

A: That is about the time I switched over, and if that is the time I switched over, I didn't spend any more money on the Black Jack.

Q: And is that the Black Jack No. 1?

A: That is right.

Q: All the money that you spent on the Black Jack was spent before you pulled the equipment was it?

A: That is right.

Q: And none was spent after you pulled the machinery and equipment?

A: No.

The testimony produced at the trial by the plaintiffs gave possibility for only two occasions when work or improvements could have been made on the Black Jack mining claims after July 1, 1949. The first such occasion Harold Evans testified that he returned to the Black Jack claims between July 7 and July 17, 1949, and pumped water from the mine on the claim.

(Ex 226, 227 <sup>238a</sup>). This is not only a direct contradiction of his former statement but is also contradicted and made impossible if the testimony of plaintiffs' other



witness, Victor Gray is to be believed. It will also be recalled that Mr. Evans produced a book, (DE. Exhibit No. B) which apparently was a record kept by him from which he could establish dates of his operations. The demeanor of the witness on the stand showed definite hesitancy and fear regarding the alleged records, and the witness said, "You can take them for what they are worth," (Tr 227). When pointed out on cross examination that all of the entries in his book were shown in chronological sequence and written with blue black ink except two entries, one of which appeared below the margin of the page of his book, and the other at the end of all his entries, he was unable to make explanation. These later two entries were entered with a violet blue ink apparently having been made at the same time and not four months apart as the witness would seek to imply. One entry showed the date of leaving the Black Jack property as being April 1949, and the other entry when the witness was pumped with the date of leaving then shown as July 17, 1948. These entries were made to fix a record.

Considered with the testimony of John Eberenson as to a conversation between Harold Evans and Walter



Morgan in the waiting room at the time of the taking of the deposition "That they would fix and alter their records to perfect their case (Tr 311), the purpose of those entries becomes explainable.

It will also be remembered that on direct examination Harold Evans testified that when he went to pump the wints in July 1949, that five persons, whose names he gave accompanied him in the performance of the work (Tr 225) but on cross examination he found that such was not the facts and could easily be disproved and changed his story so that he and his son-in-law were the only ones doing the pumping, (Tr 239).

It is interesting that Victor Bray, another Plaintiffs' witnesses testified going to the property with James Morgan on the 11th of July 1949, and remained for three days, (Tr 256) and then when pointed out on cross examination that that was the exact time when Harold Evans was supposed to be pumping the water from the wints, he conveniently changed the date of his visit to the property to that of July 12, 1949, (Tr 258) which was the second day after the pumping operations were allegedly completed, yet he saw no evidence of any pumping, or where any water had been



pumped, or when any equipment had recently been.  
He claimed he did a few "odds and ends" like cleaning  
around the track, but he failed to see Gilbert Sorenson  
and Ray Spar who were there the 20th of July 1949,  
(Tr 266).

The entire testimony of the plaintiffs with re-  
lation to any work done or improvements made from  
July 1, 1949 to June 15, 1951, is broken down and  
contradicted within itself, and made further impos-  
sible and unbelievable by the testimony of the de-  
fendants' witnesses, that they were upon the property  
nearly every month of the period in question, and ob-  
served no labor or improvements whatsoever even by  
going into the shaft looking for improvement.

## Point II

That the evidence is insufficient to support the  
findings of the court that the quit claim deed from  
James Morgan to his sons Harold T. Morgan and/or  
Walter F. Morgan was not delivered orally. The definite  
lack of any assessment work having been performed up-  
on the Black Jack mining claims by the plaintiffs  
from July 1, 1949 to and including July 1, 1950,  
prompted the plaintiffs to rely upon the provision of



an act of the United States Congress known as Public Law 107, which provisions read as follows:

The provision of Sec. 2324 of the Revised Statutes of the United States which require on each mining claim located and until patented not less than \$100 worth of labor to be performed or improvements aggregating such amount to be made each year be, and the same is hereby suspended as to all mining claims in the United States until the hour of 12 o'clock meridian of the 1st day of July 1949; Provided, that every claimant of any such mining claim in order to obtain the benefits of this act shall file, or cause to be filed, in the office where the location notice or certificate is recorded, on or before 12 o'clock meridian of August 1, 1949, a notice of his desire to hold said mining claim under this act. Provided further, that any labor performed or improvements made on any such mining claim during the year ending July 1, 1949, may be credited against the labor or improvements required to be performed or made for the year ending at 12 o'clock meridian on the first day of July 1950. (Underlining ours)

The plaintiffs contend that such statute absolves them from the performance of assessment work for the year 1949-1950, that they may thus be given credit for the work and improvements which James Morgan performed or caused to be performed upon the said claim in the year 1948.

Such temporary suspensions from doing assessment work are common in the mining history of the United States, and the cases are numerous in defining the provisions of such statutes, and their effects.



The benefits of the suspension under the act of Congress are contingent upon two things, which the United States Courts have held in a similar case to constitute the creation of "a condition precedent." The first is a strict compliance by the claimant with the provisions of the act in filing or causing to be filed by a given date, notice of his desire or intention to hold said mining claim under said act.

In interpreting such provisions the courts have held to a strict compliance. First the word "Claimant" is considered, and from the Case United States Smelting Co. vs. Low 74 Fed. Supp 917, at page 926, the Court states as follows:

Attention is called to the use of the word claimant in describing one upon whom the burden of proof was to be placed if there was a failure to file an affidavit of annual labor. That is a word which is seldom used with reference to a party to a suit in court. An examination of the land office rules with reference to procedure for getting patents to mining claims shows that in the first 108 regulations the word "claimant" is used 32 times to describe the applicant for a patent.

As the statutory rule of construction is that words are to be given their common meaning unless the statute shows they were used with some other meaning, the word claimant in the Waskay Act should be presumed to refer to the applicant for a patent in the land office.



In this case cited a member or members belonged to several different partnerships and they were contending that even though an association which was not the claimant or locator had filed an intention to hold, that the locator or claimant should receive the benefit of such notice. In answer the Court further said on page 926:

There is no reason for giving any more attention to the argument that one association is the same as another if there is a common member among the many of each association. To argue that several different partnerships were the same because a member or members of one was likewise one of the members of another would receive scant attention.

Only tenants in common or one in privity with the locators were entitled to the benefits of a secretarium statute dispensing with performance of annual labor on mining claims, under the ruling of the aforementioned case.

As is more definitely hereinafter shown by the effect of the conveyance of April 10, 1949, James Morgan was in July 1949, a trespasser or stranger to the title of the property, and unless acting at the instance and request and in behalf of the owners could do nothing more than any other stranger to perfect claimants interest in said claims. The same



proposition is expressed in Lindly on Mines 3rd Edition 322-6 in discussing by whom labor must be performed:

"Manifestly, the mines must be represented, and the annual work performed by, or at the instance of the owner or someone in privity with the owner. Work done by a mere trespasser or stranger to the title not in privity with the owner will not inure to the benefit of the locator, although ultimately paid for by the claimant; but work done for the benefit of the claim by one holding the equitable title will operate to preserve the claim from forfeiture and inure to the benefit of the claim.

Cases cited in support of the aforementioned proposition, Little Gurnell Mining Company vs. Kimber 1 Harr. Min. Rep. 536, Fed. Case No. 4892; Hesbitt vs. De Lamar's Nevada Gold Mining Company 77 American State Reports 807, 52 Pac. 609.

Quoting from the case of Hesbitt vs. De Lamar's Gold Mining Company Nevada 52 Pac. 610 the court reports states:

It is true that work done by a mere trespasser or stranger to the title will not inure to the benefit of the locator.

The case very nearly in line with the case at Bar is that of Pine Grove Nevada Gold Mining Company vs. Truman 171 Pac. 2d 366 in that a California Court held and quoting from the opinion of Judge Hereross

In Re Sacramento Packers Inc. 34 Pac. 2d 1000 stated:



"It is certain that the plaintiff in the instant case, by its neglect and failure to cause to be filed the required notice of suspension and intervention to hold, for the assessment year commencing at 12 o'clock meridian July 1, 1943 and ending at 12 o'clock meridian July 1, 1944, deprived itself of the benefit of said act, H.R. 2370, 'Providing for the suspension of annual assessment work on mining claims held by location in the United States including the Territory of Alaska,' approved May 3, 1943. The filing of such notice was a condition precedent to the operation of such suspension in plaintiff's favor, and such condition not having been complied with, the suspension provided by the act was, by the very terms of the act itself, not operative as to the plaintiff. The plaintiff was, therefore, required, the same as though no such act had been passed, to do the assessment work for the said assessment year of 1943-1944, unless plaintiff could bring itself within the scope of the extension of the very limited conditions of facts and circumstances, which, the authorities generally hold, may be the basis of extending a claim owner from the performance of the assessment work which is required by Section 2324 of the Revised Statutes of the United States, 30 U. S. C. A. 723.

The question in this case regarding the suspension order and notice of intention to hold having been filed by a stranger and one not in privity with the locator is answered definitely and conclusively in the case of *Little Russell Mining Company vs. Winter* 15 Fed. Cases page 630, Circuit Court, Denver, Colorado, Case No. 4102 where in answer to the precise question as presented here the court stated:

"It is not pretended that the plaintiff did such work before Jan. 1, 1975, and the failure in that



respect was, such an abandonment of the claims, as authorized anyone to go on the property and relocate it. In respect to that matter defendant's counsel have asked me to say, and it is quite correct to say, that if you find from the evidence that no work was done by the plaintiffs on the property in controversy during the year 1874, then that such property on the 1st day of January, A.D., 1875, was abandoned and forfeited, and subject to the occupation and relocation on said 1st day of January, 1875, and that any person, a citizen of the United States, over the age of 21 years, had a legal right to enter into and occupy the same, on the said 1st day of January, A.D., 1875, unless the plaintiff was at that time in the possession and occupancy of the property, and had resumed work thereon. And so also it should be said that the work done under the statute must have been done by the plaintiff acting through its agents, and not by another whose right was purchased by plaintiff. On that point I give the instruction of defendants as asked, which is as follows:

The court instructed the jury that any work done upon the property in controversy during the year 1874, by Miller, Lynn and Gray, on their own account, and not at the instance of plaintiff, cannot inure to the benefit of the plaintiff by virtue of any payment for or pretending purchase of such labor made by plaintiff after the commencement of this action.

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