1954

Walter F. Morgan et al v. Bert Sorenson et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

The amended location notices depict 4" by 4" markers having been used. Spar said Morgan pointed out corners and said the claims had been surveyed. After 19 years Sorenson himself identified some of such markers. The fact that he could not locate more corners or monuments than he did is no evidence of abandonment.

In JUPITER MINING CO. vs. BODIE MINING COMPANY, 4 Morrison Mining Rep. 411, 11 Fed. 666, one of the oldest leading cases and which has been followed by many others, says:

“After a location has been lawfully made, the right of the locator cannot be divested by the mere obliteration of the marks or monuments or removal of the stakes without his fault, he having performed the other acts required by the Statute.”

POINT 2.

Defendants' evidence as to the work and improvements on the claims is principally that the witnesses did not see or observe any, reminding us of the case of CHAMBERLAIN vs. MONTGOMERY, (Utah 1953) 261 Pac. 2nd 942, wherein it appears that the would be claim jumper hired an engineer to make observations as to any work that might be performed upon the desired claims, and who reported and testified that only three days work had been done within the assessment year, but in which case it appears that the workmen had back filled with muck after their working period obstructing from the view of trespassers the inside working which showed a good vein of ore. In that case the Court said:

“... the trial Court's findings that the work was in fact done during the questioned year, whether or not it was easily discoverable by appellant, supports the conclusion that the respondents retained their prior claim.”

In the case at bar we have the testimony of two dis-

interested witnesses (at the time of trial) who had been engaged in the work of sinking the additional 50 feet of winze at the end of the main tunnel on Black Jack No. 1, at a cost of about \$6000.00, cost being high because of the water pumping. One tenth of that figure was sufficient, and then there was additional work done after July 1 1949 to apply for the year July 1, 1949 to July 1, 1950, with the carry-over under public law 107 Act of Congress. The track in the tunnel evidently was in good shape as far as any proof to the contrary. The road up to the tunnel was traversible by a touring car. And defendants' witness Spar testified that on July 3, 1949 there was evidence that water had previously been pumped out, because he could see where water had been running down the hill on the outside of the tunnel, which indicated some activity in the way of pumping; and certainly such physical evidence must have been made after the spring thaw. And he also said that the markings which indicated there probably had been an air compressor set up beside the tunnel were such to indicate it had probably been within a month previous to that—July 3, 1949.

The burden of proof is upon the party alleging that the work was not done—And the proof should be clear and convincing.

40 C. J. 845, page 303;

Morrisons Mining Rights (16th Ed.) 130; and numerous cases.

After reciting the evidence in CHAMBERLAIN vs.

MONTGOMERY, *supra*, the Court said:

“This certainly was sufficient evidence of the fact that the work was done and this Court cannot pass on the credibility of the witnesses before the lower Court.”

That quotation certainly applies in this case with reference to the countenance and evasiveness of defendant Sorenson when he testified that he did not know of the Black Jack claims or who the holders were July 3, 1949, when he went with Spar, mining engineer, who knew very much about the claims, and both were interested in leasing or locating the claims; or when he, Sorenson was questioned as to the condition of the road to the tunnel, what he observed at the end of the tunnel, and as to other workings on the claims which he apparently tried to avoid testifying to. (Tr. 120-122) There can not rationally be any doubt but what Sorenson, prospecting with Spar, who knew about the Black Jack claims from Morgan as far back as 1941 where they were located and had been surveyed, that there was good ore at bottom of winze, saw ore in bin, and told that some went 62% lead, knew about these claims and the owners thereof, and conceived a bright picture of becoming the owner rather than lessee thereof.

“As a general rule of law, forfeitures are not favored.” JUPITER MINING CO vs. BODIE MNG. CO., *supra*.

In BETTS vs. STEPHENSON, 223 Pac. 2nd 651, (Calif.) it is said:

“A forfeiture of a mining claim for failure to do the annual work can be established only upon clear and convincing proof of such failure. (Citing cases) Every reasonable doubt will be resolved in favor of the validity of a mining claim as against the assertion of a forfeiture.” Citing Thornton v. Karfman, (Mon.) 106 Pac. 361.

In NEW MERCUR MNG. CO. vs. SOUTH MERCUR MNG. CO., 102 Utah 131, 128 Pac. 2nd 269, the Court says:

“Law does not favor forfeitures, and hence ordinarily the party claiming forfeiture of a title must plead and establish it by clear and convincing proof.”

The same rule prevails generally, and in LUCKY 5 MNG. CO vs. CENTRAL IDAHO PLACE MNG. CO. (Idaho) 235 Pac. 2nd 319 it is held:

“If trial Courts’ findings are sustained by competent, substantial though conflicting evidence, they will not be distributed on appeal.”

To the same effect is PEASE vs. JOHNSON, ET AL., (Calif.) 235 Pac. 2nd 229.

That assessment work and improvements might be made by a lessee is not disputed; and so held in NEW MERCUR MNG. CO. vs. SOUTH MERCUR MNG. CO., *supra*.

The evidence also discloses the work done after

July 1st, 1949, by Evans and others, and Bray and Morgan upon the claims. The work done by Evans was done before he terminated his lease. According to the testimony 36 shifts of 8 hours were put in by Evans and crew in July, 1949, pumping and timbering in the winze, at standard miners' wages of \$10.85 per shift, or \$390.00; gasoline \$98.38; and certainly the timbering material for which there was no figure given, but would run quite high, would make up \$11.02; making a total of \$500.00. This evidence is not refuted except by testimony of defendants' that they did not observe evidence of it on July 20th, 1949, when Sorenson and Spar went out. But an examination of their testimony in this case will lend considerable credence to the testimony of plaintiffs' witnesses

It is significant that Evans, in July, drained the winze so he could timber down between the 50 feet and 70 feet depth in case of future operations; and then the latter part of July Morgan and Bray went out and cleaned up along the track in tunnel and cleaned out the water drain trench. And for this work Bray received credit in full for loans theretofore had from Morgan, and was paid \$30.00.

So aside from the carry-over credit of the previous year to the assessment year July 1, 1949 to July 1, 1950, there was the required amount of work performed in and for the latter year.

POINTS 3. AND 4.

The findings and conclusions of the Court are fully supported by the evidence and law as to the deed.

When James Morgan made and gave the quit-claim deed to his sons, consideration only one dollar, he wanted them to have his holdings, Morgan was getting old, and as witness Bray stated, Morgan was not a very well man. Morgan wanted his sons to have his holdings after his death. This conclusion is fully justified by the fact that Morgan continue his interest in the claim up until the first part of the month he died, November 26, 1949. He wanted to see to it that his sons did receive his holdings with all the benefits attached thereto; so he made and recorded the notice of intention to hold under Public Law 107, as CO-OWNER. Morgan continued his interest toward work and improvement upon the claims, going upon the claim at three different times and contributing his efforts—a man of his advanced years and paying out his cash. He furnished timber for Evans in July, 1949. No court or jury could or would hold that Morgan was a stranger or trespasser upon the claims, if such were an issue under the state of facts herein. Morgan made and filed the notice to hold as co-owner. He was a co-owner with the other owners, a co-tenant. He was a claimant, as the word is intended to mean as used in Public Law 107. He had an interest in the claims, and his interest was recognized by the sons in withholding the recording

of the deed until after his death. Regardless of the testimony of Morgan or his claim it is most evident that James Morgan did intend to retain control and right of possession and occupancy of the property after the deed was made, for that is what he did, and which negatives the idea that in legal effect there was complete delivery to pass title.

As to the effect of the delivery of the deed it is stated in 18 C. J. 198, after stating the general rule:

“The question of whether or not there has been a delivery must therefore be determined upon the facts of each particular case, and although certain principles are generally applicable, they do not furnish conclusive rules under all circumstances.”

Supporting this text is the case of *ALWARD vs. LOBINGIER*, 87 Kan. 106, 108, 123 P. 867, holding that—

“Principles which correctly solve the particular problem presented are sometimes stated in the form of general rules, which do not admit of universal application.”

And in *GAYLORD vs. GAYLORD*, 150 N. C. 222, 63 S.E. 1028, it was held:

“It is a familiar principle that the question of the delivery of a deed or other written instrument is very largely dependent on the intent of the parties at the time and is not at all conclusively established by the manual or physical passing of the deed from the grantor to the grantee.”

The Court in *WEIGAND vs. RUTSCHKE*, 253 Ill. 260, 97 N.E. 641, held:

“The mere placing of a deed in the hands of the grantee does not necessarily constitute a delivery. The question is one of intention whether the deed was then intended by the parties to take effect according to its terms.”

Incidentally we might quote counsel for defendants when the deed was offered in Evidence:

“MR. ELIASON: Your Honor, I am going to object to the receiving of Exhibit 7 on the ground that it is invalid, there is no proper grantee shown in the instrument, and of course no witnesses shown on the instrument, and I believe that because of two persons named as grantees, with the “and” and “or”, it doesn’t amount to a valid instrument, and I am going to object to it. MR. FINLINSON: On the further ground that it doesn’t describe the property in question.” (Tr. 10)

Even though the deed was and is invalid and that there was no complete delivery and transfer of title intended the Morgan plaintiffs succeeded to the interest of their father upon his death.

The case of *JUPITER MNG. CO. vs. BODIE MNG. CO.*, supra, was removed from the State Court (California) to the Circuit Court of the United States, where it was tried by a jury. Action in trespass—in which defendant pleaded title to the locus in quo. The reports of this case seem to set out the instructions given to the

jury, but it has been extensively cited and followed as the law. It is said, as applicable to the case at bar:

“Work done by any of the grantors of defendant while holding the claim, whether holding the legal or equitable title, during the performance of the labor or work, is available to preserve the claim, and no mere relocation for forfeiture, made before the forfeiture actually attached by actual default, would be valid to defeat the claim.”

And we believe that upon an issue as to the validity of the deed between the Morgan sons and the estate of James Morgan, deceased, and based upon the competent evidence reflected in this case, the Court would hold the title did not pass from James Morgan, and that certainly was the view of Eldon A. Eliason when in the affidavit for extension of time in which to answer he said: “That there is no record of conveyance before death which would divest these individuals (James T. Morgan or F. A. Cromar), their heirs or creditors of interest in the mining property described in the complaint . . .” and he could find no record of appointment of an administrator for either of the deceased locators; then proceeded to have appointments made and the administrators made parties to this action.

And thus, the benefit of the extension Act Public Law 107 would enure to the successors in interest.

POINT 5.

The defendants' locations were attempted in June

1951. The issue involved was as to work and improvements in and for the years July 1, 1948 to July 1, 1949, and July 1, 1949 and July 1, 1950. Sufficient work and improvements having been performed and creditable for such years made the attempted locations of defendants premature, ineffective and invalid.

The materiality of work and improvements performed after July 1, 1950, would go to the point of refuting the allegations of abandonment of the property; and the record is clear as to additional work and improvements done after that date.

CONCLUSION

Surely in a case such as this, when the record reflects more than 19 years of effort and expenditures by the locators showing the work and improvements upon the claims as related in the evidence, and in view of the evidence amply supporting the trial court's findings and the conclusions being consistent therewith, now, when there appears prospects for reward to the heirs of the locators, who undoubtedly made sacrifices and contributions in the course of those years, this Court will, in the spirit of the Courts in the past as expressed in the cited decisions, affirm the judgment herein; and not reward an opportunist who went upon the claims the day before the FOURTH of July, 1949, with one, Spar, who knew the claimant Morgan and had learned about and locations of

the claims and their prospective value, ostensibly for the purpose of leasing but never contacting the owners.